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CAPITAL CASE

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Whether a “security” justification for abusive
pretrial confinement precludes, as a matter of law, a
determination that the circumstances of confinement
impermissibly coerced the making of custodial
statements.

2. Whether a defendant’s initiation of contact
with police per se establishes the admissibility of his
statements, or whether the court must consider the
totality of the circumstances in determining whether
inculpatory statements made by the defendant were
voluntary.
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PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Petitioner Edmund Zagorski respectfully peti-
tions for a writ of certiorari to review the judgment of
the United States Court of Appeals for the Sixth Cir-
cuit in this case.

OPINIONS BELOW

The opinion of the United States Court of Ap-
peals for the Sixth Circuit (App., infra, la-14a) is
unpublished and reprinted at 326 F. App’x 336. The
court of appeals’ order denying rehearing and rehear-
ing en banc (App., infra, 224a) is unpublished. The
district court’s order denying a writ of habeas corpus
(App., infra, 15a-223a) is also unpublished.

The opinion of the Tennessee Supreme Court af-
firming the denial of post-conviction relief is reported
at 983 S.W.2d 654. The opinion of the Court of
Criminal Appeals of Tennessee and the opinion and
order of the Criminal Court for Robertson County,
Tennessee, both denying post-conviction relief, are
not reported; the opinion of the court of criminal ap-
peals is available at 1997 WL 311926.

The opinion of the Tennessee Supreme Court on
direct appeal is reported at 701 S.W.2d 808.

JURISDICTION

The judgment of the court of appeals was entered
on April 15, 2009. A timely petition for rehearing
was denied on August 7, 2009. On October 26, 2009,
Justice Stevens extended the time for filing a peti-
tion for a writ of certiorari to January 4, 2010. This
Court’s jurisdiction rests on 28 U.S.C. § 1254(1).



2

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS INVOLVED

The Fifth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution
provides, in pertinent part: “No person shall * * * be
deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due
process of law * * *.”

The Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Consti-
tution provides, in pertinent part: “nor shall any
State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property,
without due process of law * * *.”

STATEMENT

Petitioner spent four months after his arrest for
murder in solitary confinement, held in an eight-foot
by eight-foot, windowless, unventilated, metal-walled
cell in the “obsolete, antiquated and inadequate”
Robertson County, Tennessee, Jail. C.A. App. 534.1
Cut off from natural light and virtually all human
contact, petitioner’s physical and psychological condi-
tion deteriorated dramatically. The isolation and ex-
treme summer heat drove him to self-mutilation and
attempted suicide, resulting in repeated emergency
room visits and the administration of at least five
separate mind-altering medications. Two months
into his pretrial confinement, after a heat wave
pushed the temperature in his cell over 100 degrees,
petitioner contacted authorities: Unaccompanied by
his lawyers and recently released from the emer-
gency room, petitioner offered to confess if he could
“pick the type of execution and the date and time of
execution.” Prelim. Mot. Hr'g Tr. 76-77, State v.
Zagorski, No. 6052 (Robertson Cty. Crim. Ct. Feb.

1 Report of Anthony S. Kuharich, Jail Consultant (May 10,
1983), Ex. 4 to Petr.’s Response Resp.’s Mot. Summ. J. (Oct. 1,
2002).
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17, 1984) (testimony of Ronnie Perry), reprinted in
C.A. App. 92-93. He then provided two inculpatory
statements that were later used against him at trial,
where he was convicted of first-degree murder and
sentenced to death.

The court of appeals’ decision affirming the in-
troduction into evidence of these statements was
plainly wrong. The court rejected petitioner’s argu-
ment that he was coerced into making the state-
ments by the oppressive conditions of his confine-
ment on the ground that those conditions were
prompted by security concerns, but the state’s as-
sertedly legitimate reasons for placing a suspect in
an unventilated steel box cannot justify the use at
trial of coerced statements. The Sixth Circuit also
thought use of the statements permissible because
petitioner approached the authorities and, as the
court put it, “insisted on confessing” (App., infra,
9a)—but it would seem elementary that a suspect co-
erced into initiating an exchange with police has still
been the subject of impermissible coercion. When er-
rors of this magnitude are made in a decision uphold-
ing a sentence of death, review by this Court is war-
ranted.

A. Factual Background

On May 26, 1983, petitioner was arrested in Ohio
on suspicion of involvement in the deaths of two drug
dealers whose bodies had been found 20 days earlier
in Robertson County, Tennessee. App., infra, 20a.
Wounded during the arrest, petitioner was taken to a
hospital in Huntington, West Virginia, where he was
met by law enforcement officials from Robertson
County, including Sheriff Ted Emery and Sheriffs
Office Detective Ronnie Perry, and invoked his right
to counsel. Id. at 21a-22a. Sheriff Emery and Detec-
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tive Perry escorted petitioner to Tennessee on May
31, 1983; upon his arrival that night, authorities
placed petitioner in a “drunk tank” at the Robertson
County Jail. Hr'g Tr. 53 (testimony of Ted Emery),
reprinted in C.A. App. 77. The next day, “after he in-
voked his rights to silence and to counsel” but with-
out having been provided an attorney (App., infra,
7a), petitioner gave the first of three inculpatory
statements to law enforcement officials that subse-
quently were introduced at his trial. Id. at 7a-9a.2

1. Circumstances Of Confinement

Within a few days of petitioner’s arrival in Ten-
nessee, authorities moved him to a newly completed
metal-walled isolation cell in the bottom cell block of
the jail. Hr'g Tr. 68, 77 (testimony of Ronnie Perry).
Sheriff Emery had recently been enjoined against
placing any inmate in disciplinary or administrative
segregation at the jail for more than ten days in re-
sponse to complaints that, among other things,
physical facilities and medical treatment in the jail
were so inadequate as to violate the Eighth and
Fourteenth Amendments. Agreed Order, Douglas v.
Emery, No. 81-3826 (M.D. Tenn. Apr. 15, 1983), re-

2 Petitioner also made a statement on May 27 after he first had
requested counsel; the State agreed not to introduce that
statement at trial. State v. Zagorski, 701 S.W.2d 808, 812
(Tenn. 1985). The date of that statement has also been given as
May 28, rather than May 27, over the course of litigation. See
Zagorski v. State, 1997 WL 311926, at *10 (Tenn. Crim. App.
June 6, 1997). This discrepancy, which is not material for pre-
sent purposes, is likely attributable to law enforcement officials
having visited petitioner on both days and petitioner staying
overnight at a hospital during that time. Hr’g Tr. 33 (testimony
of Ted Emery).
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printed in App., infra, 225a-229a.3 Notwithstanding
that injunction, Sheriff Emery confined petitioner in
isolation for over four months pending his trial.

The isolation cell measured eight feet by eight
feet. Hr'g Tr. 77 (testimony of Ronnie Perry), re-
printed in C.A. App. 93. The walls were steel. Id. at
85 (testimony of Ted Emery), reprinted in C.A. App.
85. The cell received no natural light and petitioner
was not allowed any exercise. Id. at 85-86 (testimony
of Ted Emery). The metal-walled cell worsened the
summer heat; the jail’s ventilation system had been
“Inoperative since the jail was built,” C.A. App. 510,4
and even with personal fans, “the [indoor] tempera-
ture still [rose] up in the hundred degree range in
the summertime,” id. at 512. Over four months of
pre-trial incarceration, petitioner was kept in com-
plete isolation but for a handful of meetings with his
attorneys and encounters with Detective Perry. His
only trips outdoors were several visits to the local
hospital emergency room and two to court. Hr'g Tr.
78 (testimony of Ronnie Perry).

Lengthy isolation in these circumstances had a
pronounced effect on petitioner’s physical and psy-
chological condition. Throughout his incarceration,
petitioner suffered from acute anxiety attacks,
rashes, insomnia, and uncontrollable rage, resulting
in the emergency room visits. C.A. App. 615-617.
Over the first two months of his incarceration peti-
tioner was treated with at least five different anti-
psychotic or mood-altering medications—Valium,

3 The unpublished Douglas decree was Ex. 2 to Petr.’s Response
Resp.’s Mot. Summ. J. (Oct. 1, 2002). C.A. App. 503-508.

¢ Testimony of Sheriff Emery in Douglas v. Emery, Ex. 3 to
Petr.’s Response Resp.’s Mot. Summ. J. (Oct. 1, 2002).
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Serax, Vistaril, Librium, and Haldol—along with the
anti-migraine medication Midrin and Restoril, used
to treat insomnia. Ibid. By October 6, 1983, when he
finally was transferred out of the Robertson County
Jail, petitioner had been treated twice for intentional
drug overdoses, id. at 637, 643, and once after at-
tempting to electrocute himself, id. at 656. He lost 30
pounds as a result of his treatment during this pe-
riod. Id. at 635.5

2. July 27 And August 1 Statements

The temperature in Robertson County rose in
mid-July, exceeding 90 degrees on July 13. C.A. App.
at 629. As the “sweltering summer heat wave” ruined
crops and killed livestock across the County, id. at
623,6 petitioner was hospitalized twice. On July 16,
petitioner was treated for an intentional overdose of
Valium. Id. at 637. Within two days of his overdose,
petitioner was back in the emergency room with an
anxiety attack, where he requested sedatives and
stated that he wanted “to sleep till the police fry
him.” Id. at 639. Petitioner appeared “listless and
dazed” at a July 20 hearing where he unsuccessfully
requested removal from isolation. Id. at 635.

On dJuly 22, when the outdoor temperature
reached 100 degrees, id. at 629, petitioner asked to
speak with Detective Perry or Sheriff Emery. Hr'g
Tr. 71 (testimony of Ronnie Perry), reprinted in C.A.
App. 87. Five days passed without a response. On the

5 Rich Barrett, Suspect Bound Ouver in Drug Deal, Robertson
County Times, July 21, 1983. Ex. 17 to Petr.’s Response Resp.’s
Mot. Summ. J. (Oct. 1, 2002).

6 Heat Reaches 100 Degrees; Crops Damaged, Robertson County
Times, July 28, 1983, at 1a. Ex. 13 to Petr.’s Response Resp.’s
Mot. Summ. J. (Oct. 1, 2002).
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second day, petitioner was again taken to the hospi-
tal, suffering from a migraine and insomnia and
complaining of numbness in his extremities. The doc-
tor noted that petitioner’s blood pressure was “way
up” (150/90) and that petitioner, though alert, exhib-
ited “poor judgment.” C.A. App. 641. The doctor
added a daily migraine drug and nightly sleeping
pills to petitioner’s multiple prescriptions. Ibid.

Detective Perry finally met with petitioner on
July 27. Hr'g Tr. 72 (testimony of Ronnie Perry), re-
printed in C.A. App. 88. At this meeting, petitioner
stated: “I'd confess to these murders if you all would
do one thing for me; if you all would let me pick the
type of execution and the date and time of execu-
tion.” Id. at 76-77 (testimony of Ronnie Perry), re-
printed in C.A. App. 92-93. Although petitioner did
not confess to the murders, he went on to provide in-
culpatory details about where the murders had taken
place. App., infra, 8a. On August 1, petitioner again
contacted Detective Perry and made an additional
inculpatory statement during an hour-long meeting
at the jail. Id. at 8a-9a. This time, petitioner denied
killing the deceased but declared that his job had
been to “set the murders up”; he provided details
about how the men had been killed. Ibid. Petitioner
was not joined by counsel at either meeting. These
statements became a central element of petitioner’s
subsequent trial.

B. Petitioner’s Trial

Petitioner was indicted in Tennessee on two
counts of murder. Prior to trial, defense counsel filed
a preliminary motion to suppress the statements pe-
titioner made to the police on June 1, July 27, and
August 1. App., infra, 24a. The trial judge overruled
the defense motion after hearing testimony from
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Sheriff Emery and Detective Perry. Hr'g Tr. 31-88.
The judge stated he was convinced that petitioner
was aware of his rights when he made the June 1
statement. Id. at 89. Although he expressed concern
that petitioner was medicated and under strain, the
judge nonetheless found that neither force nor coer-
cion was involved when petitioner spoke to Detective
Perry on dJuly 27 and August 1. Id. at 96-97, re-
printed in C.A. App. 94-95.

At trial, Detective Perry testified at length re-
garding the June 1, July 27, and August 1 state-
ments. Trial Tr. 883-890, 894-895, 911-924, State v.
Zagorski, No. 6052 (Robertson Cty. Crim. Ct. Mar. 4,
1984). He declared, for example, that on June 1 peti-
tioner “stated that he didn’t say he wasn’t involved
in the murders.” Id. at 889 (testimony of Ronnie
Perry), reprinted in C.A. App. 187. During the next
meeting between Detective Perry and petitioner, the
detective elaborated, petitioner “said that he and two
other men had been hired to kill Jimmy Porter, and
that John Dale Dotson’s death was a mistake.” Id. at
894, reprinted in C.A. App. 188. And Detective Perry
testified that petitioner provided further details of
the circumstances surrounding the murders at their
final meeting: Petitioner told him, he informed the
jury, that “Jimmy Porter and Dale Dotson exited the
vehicle, and within five seconds after they exited the
car, they were shot to death. Said then their bodies
were put in plastic bags and brought up here in Rob-
ertson County and dumped.” Id. at 895 (testimony of
Ronnie Perry), reprinted in C.A. App. 189.

The prosecutor further emphasized this testi-
mony in closing arguments, walking through each
statement, id. at 1018-1020, reprinted in C.A. App.
197-199, and urging the jury: “When you go back
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there to deliberate, consider the different accounts of
the murders that [petitioner] gave to different people
at different times.” Id. at 1018, reprinted in C.A.
App. 197. The prosecutor carefully pointed out that
on July 27, “[petitioner] implicated himself in a mur-
der for hire situation,” and “further implicated him-
self in a murder for hire situation” when he spoke to
Detective Perry on August 1. Id. at 1020, reprinted
in C.A. App. 199.

Petitioner was convicted on two counts of first-
degree murder. During the sentencing phase of the
trial, the prosecutor assured the jury that “[t]hings
have been done properly in this case from the very
beginning, from [petitioner’s] arrest until this very
moment. Things have been done properly according
to the law ***” Id. at 1125-1126. The jury sen-
tenced petitioner to death.

C. Direct Appeal And State Post-
Conviction Proceedings

1. Petitioner appealed the conviction directly to
the Tennessee Supreme Court on multiple grounds,
among them that the trial court erred by refusing to
suppress petitioner’s custodial statements to law en-
forcement officials. State v. Zagorski, 701 S.W.2d 808
(Tenn. 1985). Noting petitioner’s argument “that he
was questioned after having asked for an attorney
and that he was coerced into making statements by
the circumstances of his confinement and his physi-
cal and mental condition,” id. at 812, the court re-
jected this contention in reliance on Smith v. Illinois,
469 U.S. 91 (1984), and Edwards v. Arizona, 451
U.S. 477 (1981). In its entirety, the court’s analysis
ran:
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[W]e concluded that the evidence supports
the trial court’s finding that the defendant
Initiated the interrogations, that he was not
subject to any coercive action on the part of
the state, and that he knowingly and intelli-
gently waived his right to have counsel pre-
sent during the interrogations.

701 S.W.2d at 812. This Court denied review. Zagor-
ski v. Tennessee, 478 U.S. 1010 (1986).

2. Petitioner then initiated post-conviction pro-
ceedings in Tennessee state court, asserting multiple
grounds for relief.” Arguing that his trial counsel’s
failure to have his coerced statements excluded at
trial constituted ineffective assistance, petitioner in-
troduced additional evidence at a post-conviction
evidentiary hearing of his physical and mental condi-
tion at the time of his confinement. Post-Conviction
Technical R. with Exs., Zagorski v. State, No. 01CO01-
9609-CC-00397 (Tenn. Crim. App. Sept. 12, 1996),
Exs. 14-16. The Criminal Court for Robertson
County, Tennessee, nevertheless dismissed the peti-
tion and denied post-conviction relief on all grounds,
Memorandum Opinion and Order, Zagorski v. State,
No. 6052 (Tenn. Crim. Ct. Apr. 19, 1996), reprinted
in Technical Record, supra, at 38-50. Both the Court
of Criminal Appeals of Tennessee, Zagorski v. State,
No. 01C01-9609-CC-00397, 1997 WL 311926 (Tenn.
Crim. App. June 6, 1997), and the Tennessee Su-
preme Court affirmed. Zagorski v. State, 983 S.W.2d

7 Petitioner initially filed his petition for post-conviction relief
in Tennessee state court in January 1987. The first evidentiary
hearing did not take place until November 1995, almost nine
years later. App., infra, 26a.
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654 (Tenn. 1998), affirmed. This Court again denied
review. Zagorski v. Tennessee, 528 U.S. 829 (1999).

D. Federal Court Proceedings

1. In 1999, petitioner filed a timely petition for a
writ of habeas corpus in the Middle District of Ten-
nessee. He raised multiple constitutional claims, in-
cluding the argument that his inculpatory state-
ments were involuntary and should have been sup-
pressed under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amend-
ments. Am. Pet. for Writ of Habeas Corpus at 5-12,
Zagorski v. Bell, No. 3:99-1193 (M.D. Tenn. Aug. 4,
2000). The district court rejected this argument
without addressing the circumstances of confine-
ment, declaring that petitioner had not rebutted the
“presumption” that the state supreme court was cor-
rect when it found that he “knowingly and intelli-
gently waived his right to have counsel present’ be-
cause he ‘initiated the interrogations [and] that he
was not subject to any coercive action on the part of
the state.” App., infra, 34a. The court also rejected
petitioner’s other claims for relief; the inculpatory
statements were the first piece of “evidence in sup-
port of the verdicts” cited by the court. Id. at 130a-
131a.

2. The Sixth Circuit certified five claims for re-
view and affirmed the district court’s denial of relief
on all of them. App., infra, 1a. On the issue whether
the state trial court improperly admitted testimony
regarding petitioner’s inculpatory statements to po-
lice, the court of appeals focused on the July 27 and
August 1 statements; it did not directly address the
admissibility of the June 1 statement, declaring that
its admission, even if erroneous, would be harmless
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if the later two statements were admissible. Id. at
7a.8

The court acknowledged petitioner’s claim that
“he made the statements because he had been incar-
cerated under oppressive conditions, kept in isola-
tion, and deprived of exercise or sunlight.” App., in-
fra, 9a. And it did not take issue in any respect with
his characterization of the conditions of his confine-
ment and their deleterious physical and psychiatric
effects on him. The court nonetheless held that the
statements were properly admitted, for two reasons.

First, the court held it to be determinative that
the authorities did not act with the purpose of forcing
a confession when they subjected petitioner to un-
bearable conditions: “[T]he need for security
prompted [petitioner’s] confinement, not coercion.
Sheriff Emery testified that [petitioner] attempted
suicide by overdosing on medication obtained from
other prisoners and that he attempted to escape (and
injured himself in the process) on another occasion.”
Ibid. In so holding, the court did not note the federal
court order precluding such treatment of prisoners in
the Robertson County Jail.

8 In fact, considered on its own merits the June 1 statement
plainly should have been excluded. The governing test comes
from Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477 (1981): Once a suspect
has invoked his right to counsel, law enforcement authorities
may not question him without counsel present unless the sus-
pect voluntarily reinitiates contact with the authorities. Peti-
tioner invoked his right to counsel on May 27 and again on
June 1. He specifically stated on June 1 that he did not want to
talk about the murders, but the police nevertheless questioned
him, resulting in the first inculpatory statement. Hr’g. Tr. 40-
41.
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Second, the court held the statements admissible
because petitioner “requested to speak with Detec-
tive Perry on his own initiative and insisted on con-
fessing even though the detective advised him to
speak with his lawyer first.” Ibid. Relying on Ed-
wards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477 (1981), which states
that authorities may interrogate a suspect who initi-
ates contact with the police after previously having
requested counsel, the court reasoned that here, peti-
tioner “did not just express a voluntary willingness
‘o talk generally about his case—he insisted on
giving Detective Perry specific details.” App., infra,
10a.

REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION

Petitioner made the inculpatory statements used
to convict him of a capital offense after being isolated
for two months in an unventilated, windowless,
eight-foot by eight-foot steel box, in heat that came to
exceed 100 degrees. Unsurprisingly, these conditions
produced physical and psychological distress so se-
vere that it resulted in repeated suicide attempts, to
which authorities responded by administering peti-
tioner a cocktail of mind-altering drugs. This treat-
ment ultimately led petitioner to summon a detective
and declare that he would “confess to these murders
if you all would do one thing for me; if you all would
let me pick the type of execution and the date and
time of execution.” Hr'g Tr. 76-77, reprinted in C.A.
App. 92-93. He then made the statements in which
he implicated himself in the killings.

These statements cannot be regarded as volun-
tary—and the Sixth Circuit’s ruling to the contrary
was a manifest departure from clear and repeated
holdings of this Court. The court of appeals found it
critical that authorities did not intend abusive



14

treatment of petitioner to induce a confession, but
the authorities’ state of mind (even crediting their as-
sertion that producing a confession was absent from
their thoughts) is wholly immaterial here; what mat-
ters is whether the defendant’s will was overborne.
The court of appeals also observed that petitioner
“Initiated” his conversations with Detective Perry,
but that, too, is beside the point if the initiation was
itself coerced by intolerable treatment. When errors
of this magnitude are made by a court that is affirm-
ing a sentence of death, corrective review by this
Court is imperative. Indeed, the errors committed be-
low are so clear and the consequences so severe that
this Court may wish to consider the possibility of
summary reversal.

I. THE DECISION BELOW ALLOWED THE
ADMISSION INTO EVIDENCE OF INVOL-
UNTARY STATEMENTS

The principles that control here—developed, in
large part, in cases quite like this one—are settled
and fundamental. The Fifth and Fourteenth
Amendments preclude the admission into evidence of
involuntary statements; “what the Constitution ab-
hors[] [is] compelled confession.” Dickerson v. United
States, 530 U.S. 428, 450 (2000) (Scalia, J., dissent-
ing). Both this Court’s precedent and the teaching of
common experience establish that petitioner’s state-
ments in this case were compelled. The decision be-
low permitting use of these statements by the prose-
cution therefore should be reversed.
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A. Petitioner’s Statements Were Not Volun-
tary And Should Not Have Been Admit-
ted

1. The Court has “recognized two constitutional
bases for the requirement that a confession be volun-
tary to be admitted into evidence: the Fifth Amend-
ment right against self-incrimination and the Due
Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.”
Dickerson, 530 U.S. at 433. As the Court has ex-
plained, “[a] coerced confession is offensive to basic
standards of justice * * * because declarations pro-
cured by torture are not premises from which a civi-
lized forum will infer guilt.” Lyons v. Oklahoma, 322
U.S. 596, 605 (1944). By the same token, the use of
coercive methods to extract confessions “offend[s] an
underlying principle in the enforcement of our crimi-
nal law: that ours is an accusatorial and not an in-
quisitorial system—a system in which the State
must establish guilt by evidence independently and
freely secured and may not by coercion prove its
charge against an accused out of his own mouth.”
Rogers v. Richmond, 365 U.S. 534, 541 (1961). Add-
ing to the force of these principles, the Court also has
long “recognized that coerced confessions are inher-
ently untrustworthy.” Dickerson, 530 U.S. at 433;
see, e.g., Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 293
(1991) (White, J., dissenting); Jackson v. Denno, 378
U.S. 368, 383-384 (1964); Spano v. New York, 360
U.S. 315, 320-321 (1959); Hopt v. Territory of Utah,
110 U.S. 574, 585 (1884).

Perhaps owing to the clarity of these principles,
the number of coerced confession cases coming before
this Court has dwindled in recent decades. That de-
velopment likely also has been aided by the advent of
more professional means of policing and the ubiquity
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of Miranda warnings; “[c]ases in which a defendant
can make a colorable argument that a self-
incriminating statement was ‘compelled’ despite the
fact that the law enforcement authorities adhered to
the dictates of Miranda are rare.” Dickerson, 530
U.S. at 444 (citation omitted). But as the Court has
explained, it “ha[s] never abandoned th[e] due proc-
ess jurisprudence, and thus continue[s] to exclude
confessions that were obtained involuntarily.” Id. at
434. “The requirement that Miranda warnings be
given does not, of course, dispense with the volun-
tariness inquiry.” Id. at 444.

In determining whether or not an inculpatory
statement was involuntary, the Court conducts an
“Inquiry that examines ‘whether a defendant’s will
was overborne’ by the circumstances surrounding the
giving of a confession.” Dickerson, 530 U.S. at 434
(quoting Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218,
226 (1973)). This determination turns on “whether
the accused, at the time he confesses, is in possession
of ‘mental freedom’ to confess to or deny a suspected
participation in a crime.” Lyons, 322 U.S. at 602.
Courts accordingly must look at “whether the behav-
ior of the State’s law enforcement officials was such
as to overbear petitioner’s will to resist and bring
about confessions not freely self-determined—a ques-
tion to be answered with complete disregard of
whether or not petitioner in fact spoke the truth.”
Rogers, 365 U.S. at 544.

When making this inquiry, the Court “takes into
consideration ‘the totality of all the surrounding cir-
cumstances—both the characteristics of the accused
and the details of the interrogation.” Dickerson, 530
U.S. at 434 (quoting Schneckloth, 412 U.S. at 226).
“The determination ‘depend[s] upon a weighing of
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the circumstances of pressure against the power of
resistance of the person confessing.” Ibid. (quoting
Stein v. New York, 346 U.S. 156, 185 (1953)). See
also Withrow v. Williams, 507 U.S. 680, 689 (1993)
(“[W]e continue to employ the totality-of-
circumstances approach when addressing a claim
that the introduction of an involuntary confession
has violated due process.”); Reck v. Pate, 367 U.S.
433, 440 (1961) (“[A]ll the circumstances attendant
upon the confession must be taken into account.”);
Malinski v. New York, 324 U.S. 401, 404 (1945) (“If
all the attendant circumstances indicate that the
confession was coerced or compelled, it may not be
used to convict a defendant.”).

2. In making the determination whether the de-
fendant’s “will was overborne,” the Court has identi-
fied several considerations that are relevant here:

First, and of obvious salience, are oppressive
conditions of confinement and interrogation, which
may place irresistible pressure on the accused to con-
fess. In Brooks v. Florida, 389 U.S. 413 (1967), for
example, the defendant confessed after spending two
weeks in a “windowless sweatbox” without seeing
“one friendly face from outside the prison” during
that time. Brooks, 389 U.S. at 414. Adding to the dis-
comfort of his confinement, Brooks “subsisted on a
daily fare of 12 ounces of thin soup and eight ounces
of water.” Ibid. The Court found that this record
“document[ed] a shocking display of barbarism” that
produced an involuntary, and therefore inadmissible,
confession. Id. at 415. See also, e.g., Davis v. North
Carolina, 384 U.S. 737, 745-746, 752 (1966) (“[T]he
uncontested fact that no one other than the police
spoke to Davis during the 16 days of detention and
interrogation that preceded his confessions is signifi-
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cant in the determination of voluntariness.” (empha-
sis added)); United States v. Koch, 552 F.2d 1216,
1218 (7th Cir. 1977) (defendant’s statement was the
result of coercion because the defendant had been
placed in isolation in a windowless “boxcar cell”);
Ammons v. State, 32 So. 9, 10 (Miss. 1902) (defen-
dant’s confession inadmissible when he had been
held during “the hot weather of summer” in a six-by-
eight-foot, windowless, blanketed “sweatbox”); cf.
Chambers v. Florida, 309 U.S. 227, 237-238 (1940)
(condemning “[t]he rack, the thumbscrew, the wheel,
solitary confinement, protracted questioning and
cross questioning, and other ingenious forms of en-
trapment of the helpless or unpopular”).

Needless to say, it has long been recognized that
“sweat boxes” and solitary confinement will produce
involuntary confessions.? See generally Nat’l Comm’n
on Law Observance & Enforcement, Report on Law-
lessness in Law Enforcement 47, 167-168 (1931);
Charles Franklin, The Third Degree 42 (1970). In-
deed, “long periods of lonely suspense may well lead
an innocent man to admit guilt, even if no third-
degree practices in the strict sense are employed.”
Natl Comm’n on Law Observance & Enforcement,
supra, at 167-168.

Second, the Court has also looked at the defen-
dant’s mental state in determining whether the in-

9 The original “sweat box,” dating to the Civil War era, was “a
cell in close proximity to a stove, in which a scorching fire was
built and fed with old bones, pieces of rubber shoes, etc., all to
make great heat and offensive smells, until the sickened and
perspiring inmate of the cell confessed in order to get released.”
Nat’l Comm’n on Law Observance & Enforcement, Keport on
Lawlessness in Law Enforcement 38-39 (1931).
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culpatory statement in question was voluntary. The
use of mind-altering drugs thus is one relevant factor
in the totality-of-circumstances test. As the Court
explained in Townsend v. Sain, a confession is inad-
missible if it is not “the product of a rational intellect
and a free will”; this standard applies “whether a
confession is the product of physical intimidation or
psychological pressure” and is “equally applicable to
a drug-induced statement.” 372 U.S. 293, 307 (1963)
(quoting Blackburn v. Alabama, 361 U.S. 199, 208
(1960)). “Any questioning by police officers which in
fact produces a confession which is not the product of
a free intellect renders that confession inadmissible.”
Id. at 308 (emphasis added).

Third, mental illness also is “one of the charac-
teristics of the accused” that bears on the voluntari-
ness determination. The Court reasoned in Black-
burn that because “the evidence indisputably estab-
lishes the strongest probability that Blackburn was
insane and incompetent at the time he allegedly con-
fessed,” his confession should not be admitted.
Blackburn, 361 U.S. at 207. The Court elaborated on
this point as follows:

Surely in the present stage of our civilization
a most basic sense of justice is affronted by
the spectacle of incarcerating a human being
upon the basis of a statement he made while
insane; and this judgment can without diffi-
culty be articulated in terms of the unreli-
ability of the confession, the lack of rational
choice of the accused, or simply a strong con-
viction that our system of law enforcement
should not operate so as to take advantage of
a person 1n this fashion.
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Ibid. “[A] history of emotional instability” is a related
factor that the Court has deemed material in deter-
mining whether an inculpatory statement was invol-
untary, Spano, 360 U.S. at 322; “mental condition is
surely relevant to an individual’s susceptibility to po-
lice coercion,” Colorado v. Connelly, 479 U.S. 157,
165 (1986).

3. Viewed against this background, there can be
no serious doubt that petitioner’s July and August
statements were involuntary. Before making those
statements, petitioner was confined for two months
in a small, unventilated, windowless steel box, where
the temperature came to exceed 100 degrees. He was
not allowed exercise or the sight of sunlight and,
with the exception of a handful of attorney visits,
saw not “one friendly face” during this period.
Brooks, 389 U.S. at 414. Indeed, in significant re-
spects the conditions of petitioner’s confinement were
worse than those condemned by this Court as “a
shocking display of barbarism” in Brooks. Id. at
415.10 After the outdoor temperature reached 100
degrees, petitioner finally summoned a detective and
offered to confess if he could “pick the type of execu-
tion and the date and time of execution.” Hr'g Tr. 76-
77, reprinted in C.A. App. 92-93. It is difficult to es-
cape the conclusion that the treatment petitioner re-
ceived “was such as to overbear [his] will to resist

and bring about confessions not freely self-
determined.” Rogers, 365 U.S. at 544.

10 There is no indication that Brooks was held in “sweatbox”-
like temperatures; Brooks’s cell also may have been larger than
that holding petitioner, see 389 U.S. at 413-414. Additionally,
petitioner was held in complete isolation while Brooks had
companions in his cell, id. at 413.
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This conclusion is confirmed by the other circum-
stances of petitioner’s confinement. Petitioner was
emaciated and his mental state was precarious; he
experienced acute anxiety attacks, insomnia, and
uncontrollable rage, resulting in at least eight emer-
gency room visits prior to trial. During the first two
months of his confinement petitioner was treated
with at least five different anti-psychotic or mood-
stabilizing medications—Valium, Serax, Vistaril,
Librium, and Haldol—along with Midrin, for mi-
graines, and Restoril, used to treat insomnia. C.A.
App. 615-617. By the time he was transferred out of
the Robertson County Jail, he had also been treated
twice for intentional drug overdoses, id. at 637, 643,
and once after attempting to electrocute himself, id.
at 656. These circumstances doubtless rendered peti-
tioner “susceptiblle],” Connelly, 479 U.S. at 165, to
police pressure; his statements could not have been
“the product of a free intellect,” Townsend, 372 U.S.
at 308. In combination with the coercive conditions of
confinement, petitioner’s disturbed mental state
doubtless explains why, after twice previously hav-
ing invoked his right to counsel, he “insisted on con-
fessing even though the detective advised him to
speak with his lawyer first” (App., infra, 9a), so long
as he could choose the method of execution—surely
the act of a person in extremis. Such coerced state-
ments should not be used to convict the speaker of a
capital offense.

B. The Sixth Circuit Failed To Apply The
Proper Due Process Test And Misap-
plied Edwards v. Arizona

Faced with these circumstances, the Sixth Cir-
cuit very notably did not take issue with petitioner’s
account of his confinement, dispute the coercive ef-
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fect of that confinement, or question whether peti-
tioner’s inculpatory statements affected the outcome
of the trial. Instead, it offered two different bases for
holding petitioner’s statements admissible. It relied
on the observation that “the need for security
prompted [petitioner’s] confinement, not coercion.”
App., infra, 9a. And it opined that petitioner offered
the inculpatory statements “on his own initiative,”
making them admissible under the standard of Ed-
wards v. Arizona. Ibid. But these holdings, which are
flatly inconsistent with decisions of this Court, rest
on serious confusion about the state of the law.

1. The Sixth Circuit’s Focus On Security
Has No Basis In This Court’s Precedent

The Sixth Circuit dismissed the coercive effect of
petitioner’s confinement on the ground that he was
put in isolation for security reasons. But whether or
not that concern was legitimate (and disregarding
the sheriff’s failure to abide by the controlling federal
court order on the treatment of prisoners in the Rob-
ertson County Jail), the reasons for petitioner’s con-
finement have no bearing on the due process volun-
tariness inquiry—whether, under the totality of the
circumstances, petitioner was subjected to conditions
that were sufficient to overbear his will.

The totality-of-circumstances test is an individu-
alized, fact-based inquiry that focuses on the experi-
ence of the accused, not the intent of the interroga-
tor. The test requires a reviewing court to analyze
the circumstances of an interrogation from the point
of view of the defendant, “assess[] the psychological
impact” of the conditions on the accused, and “evalu-
ate[] the legal significance” of his reaction. Schneck-
loth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 226 (1973) (citing
Culombe v. Connecticut, 367 U.S. 568, 603 (1961)).
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The circumstances of confinement and interrogation,
and their effect on the accused, are determinative;
the court is not required to, and should not, look to
the needs or intent of law enforcement officials in
making its determination.

Accordingly, this Court has explicitly foreclosed
consideration of necessity arguments—like the secu-
rity rationale invoked by the Sixth Circuit—when
holding statements inadmissible because involun-
tary. Like the sheriff’s department here, the authori-
ties in Davis v. North Carolina, 384 U.S. 737 (1966),
had a legitimate reason for subjecting the suspect to
special restraint. But the Court still separately con-
sidered whether the conditions of Davis’s confine-
ment were coercive:

[I]t is irrelevant to the consideration of vol-
untariness that Davis was an escapee from a
prison camp. Of course Davis was not enti-
tled to be released. But this does not alleviate
the coercive effect of his extended detention
and repeated interrogation while isolated
from everyone but the police in the police jail.

384 U.S. at 752.

The Court, concerned with the effect of such cir-
cumstances on Davis’s will, looked beyond the rea-
sons for his confinement to the conditions he experi-
enced in lockup—days of repeated, incommunicado
interrogation and a limited diet. And although the
Court “readily agree[d]” with the lower courts that
the police did not intend to starve Davis, it still ex-
pressed concern that his “extremely limited” diet
might have had “a significant effect on Davis’ physi-
cal strength and therefore his ability to resist” police
questioning. Id. at 746. Looking at these circum-
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stances, the Court reached the “inevitable” conclu-
sion that Davis’s statements were involuntary and
inadmissible. Id. at 752. This holding did not depend
on the plans or intent of the police, but on the nature
of the conditions of confinement. See, e.g., id. at 752
(“So far as Davis could have known, the interrogation
in the overnight lockup might still be going on today
had he not confessed.”).

Consistent with this focus on the accused’s expe-
rience, police overreaching has also been defined
broadly to encompass situations where the mere act
of questioning an accused is presumptively coercive
due to underlying circumstances the interrogating
agents themselves had no hand in creating. In Min-
cey v. Arizona, for example, the Court found that the
circumstances of Mincey’s interrogation, particularly
that it was conducted in a hospital intensive care
unit while he was “weakened by pain and shock * * *
and barely conscious,” rendered his statement invol-
untary. 437 U.S. 385, 401-402 (1978). The Court ana-
lyzed the situation from Mincey’s point of view,
concluding that the situation put him “at the com-
plete mercy” of his interrogator, id. at 399 (quoting
Beecher v. Alabama, 389 U.S. 35, 38 (1967)); any
statements made in these conditions could not have
been “the product of his free and rational choice,” id.
at 401 (quoting Greenwald v. Wisconsin, 390 U.S.
519, 521 (1968)). See also Arizona v. Roberson, 486
U.S. 675, 687 (1988) (“Edwards focuses on the state
of mind of the suspect and not of the police * * *.”).

The conclusion that the reason for abusive
treatment of the accused has no bearing on the ad-
missibility of the resulting statements follows neces-
sarily from the considerations that underlie the bar
on the use of compelled confessions. Whatever the
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police motivation, a statement produced by solitary
confinement for protracted periods in a “sweatbox” is
“Inherently untrustworthy,” Dickerson, 530 U.S. at
433, and its use 1s “offensive to basic standards of
justice,” Lyons, 322 U.S. at 605. Hinging admissibil-
ity on police motivation also would present insur-
mountable practical problems, as it would require
answering in every case the imponderable question
why law enforcement authorities took particular cus-
todial steps, an approach that would invite manipu-
lation. Cf. Roberson, 486 U.S. at 681 (noting “the vir-
tues of a bright-line rule”). Unlike the Sixth Circuit
here, this Court has never endorsed such an ap-
proach.

2. The Sixth Circuit Improperly Character-
ized Petitioner’s July And August State-
ments As Voluntary Initiations Of Con-
tact With Police Under Edwards v. Ari-
zona

In addition, the court of appeals held petitioner’s
statements admissible because he “requested to
speak to Detective Perry on his own initiative.” App.,
infra, 9a. This request, the court believed, satisfied
the rule of Edwards, under which questioning by po-
lice is permissible when a suspect initiates contact
with law enforcement personnel after previously hav-
ing invoked his right to counsel. But this holding is
wrong in two respects. The Edwards test cannot be
used as a substitute for the constitutional voluntari-
ness inquiry. And, in any event, petitioner’s state-
ments did not satisfy the requirements of Edwards.

First, the Edwards rule functions as a “corollary”
to Miranda’s protection of the Fifth Amendment
right against self-incrimination, Roberson, 486 U.S.
at 681-682, providing that a suspect who has invoked
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his right to counsel may not be subjected to addi-
tional interrogation unless he or she “initiates fur-
ther communication, exchanges, or conversations
with the police,” Edwards, 451 U.S. at 485. But “[t]he
requirement that Miranda warnings be given does
not, of course, dispense with the voluntariness in-
quiry,” Dickerson, 530 U.S. at 444; “voluntariness
remains the constitutional standard,” id. at 464
(Scalia, dJ., dissenting), and the Court therefore “con-
tinue[s] to exclude confessions that were obtained in-
voluntarily,” id. at 434 (majority opinion). Had the
Sixth Circuit followed this Court’s precedent in its
due process analysis, consideration of Edwards
therefore would have been unnecessary in this case:
Admitting petitioner’s coerced statements was a con-
stitutional violation whether and however the Ed-
wards rule applies.

Second, after invoking Edwards the Sixth Circuit
clearly misapplied it (as had the Tennessee courts
before 1t, see 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d)(1)). In applying
Edwards, the court of appeals contented itself with
the observation that petitioner “requested to speak to
Detective Perry on his own initiative.” App., infra,
9a. But the simple fact that the accused began the
conversation with law enforcement authorities is the
beginning, not the end, of the Edwards inquiry; it
does not alone “amount to a waiver of a previously
invoked right to counsel.” Oregon v. Bradshaw, 462
U.S 1039, 1044 (1983). “[T]he burden remains upon
the prosecution to show that subsequent events indi-
cated a waiver of the Fifth Amendment right to have
counsel present during the interrogation.” Ibid.

In conducting this voluntariness inquiry, the
Court applies the same “totality-of-the-
circumstances” test used in the due process context.
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Thus, “[o]nly if the ‘totality of the circumstances sur-
rounding the interrogation’ reveal both an uncoerced
choice and the requisite level of comprehension may
a court properly conclude that the Miranda rights
have been waived.” Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412,
421 (1986) (quoting Fare v. Michael C., 442 U.S. 707,
725 (1979)). Miranda itself made it clear that coer-
cion undermines the validity of a waiver, however
explicitly executed, and looked to the same indicia of
coercion often used iIn the due process context:
“Whatever the testimony of the authorities as to
waiver of rights by an accused, the fact of lengthy in-
terrogation or incommunicado incarceration before a
statement is made is strong evidence that the ac-
cused did not validly waive his rights.” Miranda v.
Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 476 (1966). Subsequent deci-
sions have confirmed that voluntary waivers under
Miranda or Edwards must be “the product of a free
and deliberate choice rather than intimidation, coer-
cion, or deception.” Moran, 475 U.S. at 421. See, e.g.,
United States v. Cristobal, 293 F.3d 134, 140 (4th
Cir. 2002) (stating wailver voluntariness test as
“whether a defendant's will has been overborne or
his capacity for self determination critically im-
paired”); United States v. Velasquez, 885 F.2d 1076,
1089 (3d Cir. 1989) (considering whether defendant’s
“will was overcome or her capacity for self-control vi-
tiated” prior to waiver).

That necessarily is so; a statement “initiated” by
a suspect desperate to end months-long, isolated con-
finement in a stifling “sweatbox” can hardly be
thought voluntary. The conditions of confinement
that the Sixth Circuit overlooked in its due process
analysis therefore also demonstrate that petitioner
here did not waive his rights under Edwards. Peti-
tioner approached authorities only after two months



28

of unbearable heat and crushing isolation—heavily
medicated, suicidal, and evidently desperate to es-
cape those conditions. That is apparent in the very
words used by petitioner and in the Sixth Circuit’s
own account of his statement: After declaring that he
would confess to two murders if he could choose the
method of execution, petitioner “insisted on confess-
ing even though the detective advised him to speak
with his lawyer first” and “insisted on giving Detec-
tive Perry specific details.” App., infra, 9a, 10a. Com-
ing after two months’ confinement in intolerable cir-
cumstances, these statements were the obvious
product of treatment that “undermine[d] [peti-
tioner’s] will to resist and * * * compel[led] him to
speak where he would not otherwise do so freely.”
Miranda, 384 U.S. at 467. Petitioner’s decision to
waive his rights to counsel and to silence accordingly
was the product of coercion.

II. IN A CAPITAL CASE, ERRORS OF THE
MAGNITUDE OF THOSE COMMITTED BY
THE SIXTH CIRCUIT HERE CALL FOR
CORRECTION BY THIS COURT

We recognize, of course, that this Court will not
correct every error, or even every manifest error,
that is brought to its attention. For several reasons,
however, the special circumstances of this case make
review appropriate.

First, petitioner is under sentence of death and,
with the filing of this petition, has exhausted his op-
portunities for judicial review. As the Court has
noted, its “duty to search for constitutional error
with painstaking care is never more exacting than it
i1s in a capital case.” Burger v. Kemp, 483 U.S. 776,
785 (1987). The Court has been willing to act sum-
marily to prevent injustice in such cases, even when
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the question presented might not otherwise have sat-
isfied the Court’s usual standards for review; it has
done so twice already this Term. See Porter v. McCol-
lum, No. 08-10537 (Nov. 30, 2009) (per curiam); Cor-
coran v. Levenhagen, No. 08-10495 (Oct. 20, 2009)
(per curiam). See also, e.g., Smith v. Texas, 543 U.S.
37 (2004) (per curiam). “[R]egardless of the contrary
conclusions of the triers of fact, whether judge or
jury, this Court cannot avoid responsibility for such
injustice by leaving the burden of adjudication solely
in other hands.” Lyons, 322 U.S. at 602.

Second, petitioner’s statements were the product
of deeply disturbing state behavior, quite similar to
that condemned by this Court in a closely related
context as “a shocking display of barbarism.” Brooks,
389 U.S. at 415. Before making the statements, peti-
tioner was isolated in a small, windowless, oppres-
sively hot steel box for a period of two months in di-
rect contravention of a federal court order that had
recently been entered against the jail’s sheriff—a pe-
riod when petitioner several times attempted suicide
and was in obvious psychological distress. This kind
of treatment, harkening back to the Civil War-era
“sweatbox,” was once a familiar means of extracting
an involuntary confession. Whether or not this
treatment of petitioner and the particular circum-
stances of his confinement served legitimate and jus-
tifiable purposes, the use of an inculpatory statement
generated by such treatment—much less its use to
produce a death sentence—should not be counte-
nanced.

Third, the Sixth Circuit’s errors are obvious and
suggest a surprisingly cavalier treatment of a capital
case. The court’s blithe dismissal of petitioner’s chal-
lenge on the ground that “security” justified the con-
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ditions of his confinement ignores the fundamental
principles that govern in this area of the law; its
holding that petitioner’s statements are admissible
under Edwards betrays serious confusion about the
meaning and applicability of that decision’s test. The
Sixth Circuit’s failure to publish its opinion cannot
hide the severity of those errors. See Holland v.
Jackson, 542 U.S. 649 (2004) (per curiam) (summa-
rily reversing unpublished Sixth Circuit decision).
And that is especially so because there is every rea-
son to believe that admission of petitioner’s state-
ments had a “substantial and injurious effect” upon
the jury’s decision to convict him and then unani-
mously vote for the death sentence. Fry v. Pliler, 551
U.S. 112, 114 (2007). Indeed, the prosecution empha-
sized those statements in its evidentiary presenta-
tion and summation to the jury, and the Sixth Cir-
cuit did not accept the State’s invitation to label the
admission of the statements harmless.1

Finally, the prospect of involuntary statements
resulting from coercive state action (intentionally or
otherwise) may arise in many contexts. Police com-
mand complete control over suspects held in custody,
and recent events illustrate that episodes of abusive
coercion, though doubtless relatively rare, are not a
historical curiosity. See, e.g., Kaine Grants Condi-
tional Pardons to “Norfolk Four,” Rich. Times-
Dispatch, Aug. 6, 2009, http:/bit.ly/73xlel (indica-
tions that coercion of four Navy sailors into admit-
ting involvement in rape and murder formed partial

11 Because the court of appeals did not address the harmless-
error question, it would be appropriate for that court to address
harmlessness in the first instance on remand. See Hedgepeth v.
Pulido, 129 S. Ct. 530, 533 n.* (2008)
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basis for Governor’s pardon); Steve Mills & Jeff
Coen, Feds Catch Up with Burge, Chi. Trib., Oct. 22,
2008, at 1 (Jon Burge, former Commander in the
Chicago Police Department, allegedly coerced dozens
of confessions from defendants using methods such
as electric shocks and suffocation); see also, e.g.,
April Witt, In Pr. George’s Homicides, No Rest for the
Suspects, Wash. Post, June 4, 2001, at Al (in the
three years preceding the article, people were con-
victed and imprisoned based on interrogations last-
ing 32, 35, 51, and 80 hours). Because the voluntari-
ness of any waiver of rights must be assessed in all
cases involving custodial statements, see Montejo v.
Louisiana, 129 S. Ct. 2079 (2009), the Sixth Circuit’s
voluntariness analysis portends serious mischief in
this area of the law. This Court’s affirmance of the
principle that coerced, involuntary statements may
not be used to secure convictions is therefore a mat-
ter of general, and continuing, importance.

CONCLUSION

The petition for a writ of certiorari should be
granted.
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